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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to the regulation of electricians and power limited technicians; and to provide a 
penalty. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Att #1-12 

Chairman Klein: Opened the hearing on SB 2359. A quorum was present.  
 
Senator Kannianen, District 4: See attachment #1 for testimony in support of the bill.  
 
(5:50)Chairman Klein: So we have no fence now? There’s no rule, those folks are out there 
working now under no rules? We’re gonna create a new class which we do not have.  
 
Senator Kannianen: There is certain work that is being done now that technically should be 
done by an electrician but is not at the current time. There’s some pushback there, this would 
alleviate that.   
 
Chairman Klein: So we’re trying to find a defining line because we’ve got folks crossing that 
line that the electrical board feels have been established but there’s electrical creep, perhaps.  
 
Senator Burckhard: Is safety still the main concern here? We’re not making it less safe by 
doing this are we? 
 
Senator Kannianen: No I think this will make it more safe, would allow more individuals that 
do this kind of work have the proper training and certifications.  

 
Senator Piepkorn: Is there a shortage of PLTs now? 
 
Senator Kannianen: In different parts of the state you could argue there’s a shortage of 
electricians, so by allowing this license to be involved that would alleviate some of that 
pressure and job cost.  
 
Chairman Klein: How many hours do you need to be PLT versus apprentice electrician? 
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Senator Kannianen: If you’re not grandfathered in and you don’t have any other technical 
or tradesman certification, then to obtain the level of a power limited technician, you would 
need 6,000 hours of work experience plus one year of educational experience.  
 
Chairman Klein: And to be an apprentice electrician is what?  
 
Senator Kannianen: For an apprentice to be able to qualify for a journeyman’s its 8,000 
hours.  
 
Chairman Klein: So its 2,000 less? 
 
Senator Kannianen: Correct.  
 
(11:49)James Schmidt, Executive Director, North Dakota State Electrical Board: See 
attachment #2 for testimony in support of the bill.  
 
(22:06)Chairman Klein: How did we come up with 6,000 hours? 
 
James: I took what it took to be an electrician, I looked at other states, because we needed 
that for reciprocity, but we also added by amendment, that tradesman certification which if 
they come in and they have tradesman certifications for power limited, we would recognize 
that too. So by rule we would need to define that and we wanted it in law but I was scared of 
missing somebody. I think they have four different certifications. And I know there’s more out 
there, so I thought if I could identify those by rule, they could fill that gap. Right now when 
electrical engineers design projects for data or whatever, they’ll specify what companies 
they’ll hire to do that work, and I thought as far as a vetting process, maybe we need to tap 
those resources too to get everybody a fair chance. If they are qualified, we want to license 
them to do the work.  
 
Chairman Klein: In Fargo when they have the wrong wire hooked up, don’t you ever have 
electricians that are trained that do something wrong that you catch? Isn’t that why you send 
out inspections?  
 
James: Yes, we do inspections but right now these power limited people, we don’t even 
know where they are.  
 
Senator Burckhard: 6,000 hours is 3 years; does it take three years to become a power 
limited technician? Does that seem like a long time? 
 
James: The idea there was, visiting with contractors that do this kind of stuff. After the second 
year they’re getting a grip on it, but three years is reasonable. You’ve got to remember if they 
have that tradesman certification, if they’ve gone through some sort of fast course like a CTE 
is $600 and there’s continuing education, I don’t know why that wouldn’t qualify. But that’s 
something that the education committee could vet out.  
 
Senator Burckhard: Did you say the Telco’s were exempt from this legislation? Are they in 
favor of what you’re doing? 
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James: The rural utilities and that language is what defines them in the law.  
 
(28:00)Doug Grinde, Director of Inspections, North Dakota Electrical Board: see 
attachment #3 for testimony in support of the bill.  
 
(31:28)Chairman Klein: Are you called out there a lot? Somebody rats somebody out, or 
how do you get called out there? Are you finding a lot of connections that are loose? Are you 
giving a lot of warnings or citations?  
 
Doug: We do get calls on it. A lot of it is finding it, you get a wiring certificate from an 
electrician from the gas pump that Josh is gonna show you. You go out to look at it, and he’s 
flat out gonna tell the inspector, by the way I didn’t install this cable. I don’t want to be 
responsible for the way we installed it, we have to put it back on the owner. We already make 
them have the electrician to do it. That’s what stops us from finding a lot of them.  
 
Chairman Klein: So we don’t know how many houses or businesses have been burned 
down because of somebody installing something wrong? 
 
Doug: No I don’t have stats or anything.  
 
Chairman Klein: But generally, we do this because we’re concerned about public safety?  
 
Doug: Correct. (Personal anecdote relating to the question).  
 
Chairman Klein: So what you’re saying is if these guys had some training they would have 
put the right thing in but they didn’t and they were just following the boss who didn’t know 
what he was doing either? 
 
Senator Burckhard: So if you’re a small business who sells computers and you install 
security systems, are they going to have to have this program? They’re going to have to have 
an apprenticeship program? 
 
Doug: Defer to James on anything to do with licensing.   

 
Chairman Klein: So Doug you’re making the point, the case for the other folks, their gonna 
say we’re following Minnesota, overburdening or over regulating and I think we understand 
the concerns.  

 
Josh Wilson, District 1 State Electrical Inspector: see attachment #4 for testimony in 
support of the bill.  
 
(43:54)Senator Piepkorn: When this was done nobody had to inspect it? But if I was a 
homeowner I could do it myself, correct? 
 
Josh: Self-wiring is allowed, but they would have to contact us prior to the wiring on their 
own residential property where they own and occupy, it would be possible for the to self-wire 
that but at that point they would have to get inspector involved. This would not fall under our 
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jurisdiction right now. So a homeowner could probably do that himself without even calling 
us because it’s not required.   
 
Chairman Klein: So what you’re saying is every lawn sprinkler system that’s installed in the 
future, if we had the power limited technician, we’d have to hire an inspector to go out and 
inspect that? Because we need inspection then, if we’re covering the PLTs, we would require 
that every project they do, also has an inspection like we do with the electricians don’t we? 
 
Josh: I would agree with that yes, a lot of these inspections I can double up though. I’m 
already going there for the basement; I could do the lawn sprinkler at the same time.  
 
(50:08)Representative Ben Koppelman, District 16: see attachment #5 for testimony in 
opposition to the bill.  
 
(57:38)Senator Piepkorn: What leads you to believe that most of the low voltage contractors 
know the industry better than the electrical inspectors that would be inspecting them? 
 
Rep. Koppelman: I am a commercial general contractor myself, and I work with a lot of 
companies that do low voltage items and a lot of them specialize in their trade and an 
electrician that I work with that’s in the room today would tell me well Ben we don’t do that, 
we subcontract to a specialist in the low voltage trades and so if my electrician who is one of 
the most knowledgeable that I’ve ever met, differs to someone in the trades, that suggests 
that they know the trade better than the electrician. It’s mostly personal experience that I 
drive that claim from.  
 
(59:30)Cameron Fleck, New Vision Security, on behalf of Chris Heaton, Vice President 
of Advocacy & Public Affiars, Electronic Security Association: see attachment #6 for 
testimony in opposition to the bill.  
 
Chairman Klein: So you work with electricians, you still need electricians with you when you 
install? 
 
Cameron: 90% of the time, we work side by side with the electricians. As a matter of fact, 
they are leaning on us as we are trained and certified a little bit more in depth with those 
particular pieces of equipment. We work as a team.  
 
Chairman Klein: So you would ask them to pull a wire or something but ultimately, you are 
the one that has to hook the stuff up? 
 
Cameron: That’s correct.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Just briefly describe your training or credentials, and what you need to 
do to get those? 
 
Cameron: As I said I do agree with training and other things out there, however, I do think it 
should be a little bit more on the low voltage end of things and not crossed so much with the 
high voltage. We do have the electronic security association where they have credits you can 
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take and classes. Also the fire alarm association, NICET, they just came out with a CCTV or 
camera course.  
 
Chairman Klein: You hire somebody; do they have a college background? 
 
Cameron: Well with our unemployment rate being below 3% it’s hard to find employees in 
general, but we do have internships set up with BSC, we do have some knowledge coming 
in. We do also train people from the ground up and get them into this industry so a lot of 
times you’ll see them move on to the electrician field and sometimes they say.  
 
Chairman Klein: So you pluck out of the college system? 
 
Cameron: Correct.  
 
Senator Kreun: How do you get engaged with the electricians on the large job, does the 
engineer or the architect require each company to come in and put the plans together or 
does the electrician or the architect lay it all out and then you bid with or separately from the 
electricians?  
 
Cameron: Depends the size of the contract, but majority of the time it is put together by 
electrical engineers and architects and you’ll have a prime bid and I guess the electrical 
contractors are usually bidding on those prime bids and we will come on as a sub-contractor 
of an electrician. Taking care of the security portion, camera portion.   
 
Senator Kreun: So you are working under the electrician in those instances? 
 
Cameron: At that time, yes. Currently, we have five projects where we are working under an 
electrician.  
 
Trent Slater, AVI Bismarck: testified in opposition to the bill. As proposed it would have put 
our North Dakota operation, out of business. James was very helpful in getting that first 
amendment that you see there, it will keep us in business. The two sides, gentleman spoke 
about grain bins and gas pumps, totally on board with that. This seems really wide ranging. 
All of the things he talked about are not anything our company does and I close 40 jobs a 
month. From a pragmatic standpoint, how are we going to inspect 40 jobs a month. That 
means I need one of James’s guys with one of my guys every single day of the month. From 
a logistical standpoint, you need to think about how many inspectors are you going to hire, 
how’s this all going to work. AVI is the only AV company in the nation certified to provide CTS 
training, which is certified technology specialist training, we do that in Minneapolis and we 
have our competitors and our customers and our own guys go through that. I’m kind of cool 
with this because we do it all anyway but I just wanted to bring up a few of the things that you 
probably want to consider as you’re thinking about this. I could be on board with this for the 
classified areas, nobody wants their gas pumps to blow up. I just think we need to look at the 
ramifications because this covers a huge gamut, from putting stuff in somebody’s lawn to 
right now, today, I’m closing out Border State Electric’s new headquarters in Fargo, I’ve got 
guys in there, we’re literally bringing rooms online hour by hour. So do I have an inspector 
with us as we’re finishing and the rooms get going? I’m finishing the installation at the city of 
Fargo, at their new city hall. Same situation, we’re literally working day and night cause the 
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first commission meeting is at 5 pm on Monday and not matter what it has to happen. The 
stuff that we deal in and the stuff they’re talking about; it just seems like it’s a huge gamut.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: Just describe the work you are doing, for example at Border State.  
 
Trent: So they have 30 rooms there, some that will hold 3 or 4 people and some that will hold 
30-40 people. We’re putting in the speakers, video conferencing, the places to plug your 
computers into. We’re bring Skype for business into all of those. We’re putting up video walls.  
 
Brent Michelsen, City Wide Electric: testified in opposition to the bill. All of the testimony 
you’ve heard today is true. When we talk about the electrical industry it is a huge wide brush, 
and it is changing rapidly. And if we’re gonna go down the rabbit hole of safety, I would hate 
to see us have a 75% license and training for something that took me 10,000 hours to 
become a qualified contractor to do. And now we’re thinking we’re gonna grandfather some 
people in, and some people not, and then start a 6,000-hour apprenticeship versus an 8,000 
apprenticeship. When you start to go down this road, they have all sorts of things, inductive 
heating, that they’ve talked about, induced voltage on the ceiling grid, and all of those are a 
part of our state’s requirements to become an electrician. Right now, our state’s standards 
are 8,000 hours and 576 hours of education. Trade school covers it so if they complete a 
two-year trade school they get quantified for the 576 hours, to be able to take your state test. 
That doesn’t mean you get a license, that means it gives you the opportunity to meet the 
minimum requirement to be a journeyman electrician. I would have you guys look at that. 
Talking to James earlier, I wish I was on this committee because I think we could’ve clarified 
and narrowed the scope to give you a better bill. When you talk about the young man with 
the security stuff, a lot of the engineering, or when you bid a project, its division 16 electrical, 
my division encompasses all of these guys that have spoken. I as the electrical prime, I 
absorb them, unless its carved out of my bid, in the bid instructions, I pay a permit fee on all 
of that. So I always believed that we were getting inspected this whole time. Having said that, 
I’ve always used qualified subs when necessary.  
 
(1:12:21)Chairman Klein: When you have all those different sub-contractors, and you have 
those permit fees or inspection fees, so every time you called for inspectors does that cost 
somebody money? 
 
Brent: My fees are based on my total cost of the job. So if I have a job that’s $277,000 which 
encompassed my subcontractors, that’s what I send the fees in on.  
 
Chairman Klein: My new thought was when I’m installing my underground sprinklers and 
now they’re covered by a new PLT technician, am I gonna have to pay a fee to get somebody 
out there to inspect it? 
 
Brent: Well anything less than $500 I believe is a self-certify. So if that guy didn’t charge you 
$500 there would be no permit on it, you would just be going off of his reputation as a qualified 
sprinkler guy to do it right for you.   
Chairman Klein: Well has anyone paid less than $500 for a sprinkler system? 
 
Brent: No, you’re probably looking at $3500-$4000 for a typical house in North Dakota.  
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Trinity Schaff, President/Owner, TrinSPIN Inc.: see attachment #7 for testimony in support 
of the bill.  
 
Chairman Klein: So shouldn’t we have some carve outs for these things that you just 
mentioned that seem odd that we would need to bring an electrician in for? Isn’t there a way 
around this without legislation? Isn’t that something they can do within their own rules? 
 
Trinity: I have reached out to different people in my district, Koppleman was one of them, no 
response back from him. I figured out the avenues I could go to get something changed so 
we could continue to do the work we were doing. The biggest feedback I get is we’re out 
there to take business away from electricians. That’s the last thing we’re trying to do, if 
anything the electricians are taking business from us. Electricians aren’t going to go up there 
and do sprinkler systems or access points and program wireless access points throughout 
the building. They’re not gonna go up there and get into the camera business or program 
and operate a phone system. That’s our stuff. Let us do it, and let us do it from start to finish. 
There’s no high voltage, and if there is, we are going to call in the high voltage certified people 
in to do that. That’s out of our scope, I agree with that. But anything around that 5-volt range 
should be our responsibility. I have reached out. James knows how much I’ve reach out. He 
got a butt chewing from me when I first got shut down because I could not understand why 
we were not allowed to put in a 12-volt cable. Even the electricians that we are working this 
were unaware of that. Many of them do not want to deal with the detailed work or under 
cabinet lighting or accent lighting. They want to get in and get out, they don’t want to spend 
six hours on their back trying to do under cabinet lighting. When I brought this law up to them 
they said what do you mean its 12 volts. These are master electricians telling me this, that 
they had no idea we couldn’t do this. Today is the first day I’ve heard we can’t even pull a 
PLE cord to a camera, the biggest portion of our business. You’re allowed to plug a cable in, 
why can’t I plug a cable in? I’m desperate right now, we estimated last year that we lost 
$100,000 in profit not being able to do low voltage work in the state of North Dakota. I’m a 
resident of North Dakota and I like to support the state that I’m in, but when I’m limited in 
what I can do, I’m forced to take my business to Minnesota.   
 
Chairman Klein: If we pass this, you would be grandfathered in, so you like the idea of 
passing something because if would get you moving in the right direction?  
 
Trinity: Yes.  
 
Senator Kreun: You’re in support? 
 
Trinity: I’m not saying there aren’t things I wouldn’t change, but again it’s the desperation 
that brings me here.  
 
Chairman Klein: Well it certainly seems it should be brought to someone’s attention, it’s just 
unfortunate that it has to be the legislature.  
 
See attachment #8-12 for additional testimony in support of the bill submitted to the 
committee.  
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